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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

YELENA LEVITIN and CHICAGO SURGICAL
CLINIC,

13 C 5553
Plaintiffs,
JudgeGaryFeinerman
VS.

NORTHWEST COMMUNITY HOSPITAL,
ADVANCED SURGICAL ASSOCIATES, ALAN
LOREN, WILLIAM SOPER,andDANIEL CONWAY,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

M EMORANDUM_OPINION AND ORDER

Yelena Levitin and Chicago Surgical Centetd. (“CSC”) filed this suit against
Northwest Community Hospital (“NCH”), Advanced Surgical AssociatesSEA, Alan Loren,
William Soper, and Daniel Conway, bring federal antitrust claims, a hostile work
environmentlaim under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 20@0seq,
and state law claimf®r breach of contract, tortious interference with existing and prospective
business relations, defamation, false ligletzeptive business practices, and negligent
misrepresentation. Doc. 1. The court dismigeedantitrust claimsnderFederal Rué of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6) but allowed the Title VII and state law claims to proceed. 688
(reported at 64 F. Supp. 3d 1107 (N.D. Ill. 2014)). The court then denied Defendants’ Rule 12(c)
motionfor judgment orthe Tile VII claim on statute of limitations grounds. Dot20-121
(reported at 2015 WL 3663688 (N.D. Ill. June 12, 2018)jwo-week jury trial isset for
October 24, 2016. Doc. 139.

Now before the court af@efendants’ summanudgmentmotion, Doc. 165, and

Plaintiffs motion for partial summary judgmean the question wheth&efendants are entitled
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to immunity under the Health Care Quality Improvement Act (“HCQIA2,U.S.C. § 1110#&t
seq, andthe lllinois Hospital Licensing Act (“IHLA”) 210 ILCS 85/%t seq, from liability on
the state law claim$)oc. 236. Related to the summary judgment motionPlaratiffs’ two
motions to strike, Docs. 237, 301; Defendants’ motion to strike, Doc. 281; and Defendants’
motionsin limine to disqualiy Plaintiffs’ experts, Docs. 142, 145. For the following reasons,
Defendantssummary judgment motion is grantedpartas to the Title VII claim and denied
moot in partas to the state laalaims; Plaintiffs’ summary judgmentotion is denie@s mod;
Plaintiffs’ motions to strike are denied in part and denied as moot ingpaefendants’
motion to strikeand motionsn limineare denied as maotMoreover, with the soleemaining
federal claim resolvedhe court relinquishes its jurisdiction evthe state law clainfaursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3).
Background

As the court reaches the mewtsly of Defendants’ summary judgment motion, the
following facts are set forth as favorablyRtintiffs as the record and Local Rule 56.1 permit.
SeeGreat W. Cas. Ins. Co. v. Robhins F.3d __, 2016 WL 4366769, at *2 (7th Cir. Aug. 16,
2016);Hanners v. Trent674 F.3d 683, 691 {7 Cir. 2012). On summary judgment, the court
must assume the truth of those facts, but does not vouch for 8esArroyo v. Volvo Grp. N.
Am, 805 F.3d 278, 28(7th Cir. 2015. BecausdPlaintiffs incorporatenuch of their Local Rule
56.1(a)(3) statement in support of their summary judgment motion, Doc. 211 at B31Bein
Local Rule 56.1(b)(3)(Cstatementn opposition to Defendants’ summary judgment motion,
Doc. 241, and inttheir summary judgment oppositidmief, Doc. 243, the Local Rule 56.1(a)(3)

statemenftand Defendants’ responsed)l be considered partfdhe summary judgment record.



With leave of courtPlaintiffs twicemade corrections their motion for partial summary
judgment, in which theitocal Rule56.1(a)(3) statememtas embeddedDocs. 208-211, 227,
235-36. Plaintiffs represented to the court that the seoamdction Doc. 236, which was filed
after Defendants had already filed thisical Rule56.1(b)(3)(B) respons® Plaintiffs’ Local
Rule 56.1(a)(3) statemeridoc. 232, woulathangeonly two typographical errors, both within
theargument section of the brief; Plaffs did not seek leave to make any changdbe Local
Rule56.1(a)(3) statement. Doc. 227 at 9-10. The second corrected motion neventiaglkess
several changes to the Local RE&1(a)(3) statementCompareDoc. 211 at {1 36, 45, 48, 58,
with Doc. 236 at 11 36, 45, 48 (adding namas)y id.at I 58 (changing a date). Although none
of those changes are relevant to the caurésolution of the summary judgment motions, the
court will treat the_ocal Rule56.1(a)(3) statement in Plaintiffs’ firsbrrected motion, Doc. 211
at 219, as the operative versiorr faurposes of this opinion.

A. Factual Background

1. The Parties

Levitin is a femaleJewish physician of Russian descergnsed to pactice medicine in
lllinois. Doc. 232 at 1 1; Doc. 240 at | $he isemployed byCSC, gprivate medical practice
which she owns and operates. Doc. 24411, 6.

NCH is a hospitdicensedto operateainder lllinois law. Id. at 2. ASA is a medical
practice comprised of general surgeons, including Soper, Conway, and Loren. Doc. 232 at 1 3
Doc. 240 at 4 ASA’s principal place of businesslixatedwithin the NCHfacilities. Doc.

240 at 1 3. Sopeserved ashe chair of NCH’s Department of Surgery in 2040¢ was a
member oNCH’s Board of Directors from 2011 to 2019CH’s Quality Committeén 2012,

andNCH's Medical Executive @mmittee(*"MEC”) from 2011 to 2013. Doc. 23 4. The



MEC is a standing committee responsibledorveillingthe quality of medical care aride
ethical conduct oNCH's medical staff.ld. at 112; Doc. 218-2 at 10Loren was a MEC
memberandthe Department of Surgery chair and vice chair at various points between 2005 and
2012. Doc. 232 at 1 6. Conway served as the chair of the Surgical Audnieen(*"SAC"), a
peer review committee within NHC’s Department of Surgéogm 2004 to 20101d. atf 5, 14;
Doc. 221-4 at 9, pp. 461.
2. Termination of Levitin’'s NCH Staff Privileges

From 2000 through January 2012&vitin maintained credentials and clinical privileges
at NCH. Doc. 240 at § 73; Doc. 283 at § 2. Starting in 2008, over the course of several
confrontations, Conway insulted and ridiculed Lev#gimedical judgment and surgical skills in
front of hercolleagues and patients. Doc. 28331; Doc. 317 at 1 6-16. On one occasion,
Conway entered the operating room without Levitin’s permission and made her uncbiaforta
by questioning her surgical findings. Doc. 3#A[7. Levitin complained abouConway, who
wasreprimanded and instructed to leave Levitin alone. Doc. 28334, 31

In late 2009, Soper, who at the time was the chair of the Department of Susgsiyed
a complaint against Levititom Allan Malmed, a radiologist at NCHDoc. 179 at  3; Doc.
192 at 3-4, pp. 163-65; Doc. 283 at § 3Talmed expressed concern over Levitin’'s competence
and judgmentasserting his view thaome of hework wasinconsistent with sound medical
practice Doc. 192 at 4p.165 Doc. 240 at § 22Doc. 2406 at 718-9. More specifically,
Malmed complained that Levitin was conducting procedtivasverenot indicated by a
patient’s diagnostic findings. Doc. 192 at 4, p. 165; Doc.&@40918-9.

Soper previously had received complaints alh@vitin from two other general surgeons

Bob Glass andohn Peters. Doc. 192 at 7, p. 184; Doc. 240 at { 22. Glass refused to work with



Levitin becausée believed she was incompetent and felt uncomforfadferming surgeries
with her. Doc. 192 at 9, pp. 197-9®eters felt similarly, although he statedy a preference
not to operate with Levitinld. at 9 p. 199. A doctor naméddilano, who at the time was the
head of pathologyalsohadcomplained to Soper that Levitin weegquestingnappropride
procedureslid. at 11, pp. 213-14.

After receving those complaints, Soper conductegktrospective review of Levitin's
casedack to 2004. Doc. 283 at  37. Sopésrmed Levitinthat some of her colleagues had
complained about her work and thes, a resujthe would be proactively reviewing her cases.
Doc. 317 at 1 23. Soper memorialized his conversation with Levitin in a contemporaneous
memaandum:

| had a phone discussion with Dr. Levitin today in regards to concerns of mine
and multipleother medical people who have brought to my attention some
concerns regarding some of her cases and cases of her partners with either
complications that occurred during procedures or concerns for potential
complications. | expressed my concerns that some of the potential problems
might be avoidable and may reflect some issues with judgment and some of
the issues may reflect some technical ability and technical judgment during
procedures. | offered my assistance to be a resource person to bounce
guestions off of and also expressed my concerns that major problems would
certainly have a bad impact on her practice as well as would be bad for the
hospital and also reflect poorly on the rest of the department of surgery. |
stated that | would be reviewing her activities and her pagimetivities
proactively with the hopes to prevent major problems in the future and
encouraged her to evaluate her and her geosyrgical activities based on

their clinical experience and judgment and to hopefully avoid epishdes

could evolve into major problems. She expressed a willingness to use me as a
resource if needed and also that she would like to discuss any specific issues
with me when the need arises. She also offered to send me some copies of
articles in regardo some of the clinical judgment and activities that have
involved their cases.

Doc. 320-31 at 4.
Levitin does notecall Soper offering his assistance in this way. Doc. 317 at § 23.

Plaintiffs assert thats part of his revievgoper intended to cancahy surgerieghat Levitin



had scheduled that he deemed inappropriate. Doc. 283 at § 37. That assertion is not supported
by the cited evidence; rathe3pper testified that he would revidwvitin’s work and, if he

noticed anything unusual, he would bring it to her attention for reconsider#tidr. Doc. 320-

29 at 18, p. 260. So that assertgnPlaintiffsis disregarded.

In January 2010acting on Malmed’'sdvice,Soperasked the MEGo reviewLevitin’s
cases.Doc. 179 at § 10; Doc. 2138at 2 The requesstated “Over the past five years or so
there has been some concerns raised about her practice of surgery by miiéiglet gieople
here at Northwest Community. As Chairman of the Department of Surgeme tdweived
complaints from nursing, anesthesia, and other surgical colleagues in tegaedpractices.”
Ibid. Soper’s requedtet off a series of evendescribed immediately below, that culminated
NCH'’s Board of Directors revoking Levitin’'s medical staff membershipaimita privileges.
Doc. 240at 170.

After receiving Soper’s requeshe MEC convened an investigative committee, which
concluded that Levitin had deviated from the standard of care in four out of theotiergases
it reviewed Doc. 213-9 at 8; Doc. 232 22, Doc. 240 at § 27Theinvestigative committee
recommended that corrective actioot be taken against Levitin, biitdid recommend that her
cases be subject to quarterly retrospective reviéyes. 213-9 at 8; Doc. 232 at I 22; Doc. 240
at 127. The MEC largely adopted thevestigative committee’s findingdoc. 232 at § 23.

Butin 2011, following an incident where Levitin’s patient suffered a laryngospasm
during an endoscopyhe MEC reconvened the investigative committeec. 214-8 at 3Doc.
232 at 11 27, 31; Doc. 240 at 1 33; Doc. 283 at {[T4ls time, the investigative committee
recommended corrective actioBoc. 232 at § 33; Doc. 240 at 1 36; Doc. 283 at  43. Based on

that recommendatiothe MEC terminated Levitin’'s medical ftarivileges. Doc. 232 at Y 36;



Doc. 283 at  43Levitin requested a hearing before thalicial Review Committe@JRC”),
which concludedHat the termination of hgrivileges wasinwarranted.Doc. 171 at 24-26;
Doc. 232 at  38-39; Doc. 240 at 1 41, 46; Doc. 280 at Y& Quality Committee
conducted another layer of review, overturning JRC andeviving the MEC’stermination
recommendation. Doc. 232%43; Doc. 240 af 56. The final call belonged to the NCH Board,
which adopted th@udity Committeés conclusionsand determinethatLevitin’s staff
privilegesshould be terminated. Doc. 240 at { 60.
3. Levitin’s Compensationand Benefits
The parties disagree as to how Levitin was compensated. According to Degendant

Levitin did not receive compensation from NCH; ratiséebilled her patients directly
collecing her fees from therandfrom third-party payors Doc. 168at 21. On this point,
Levitin testified as follows:

Q. The billing of your services was done by who, Doctor?

A. The billing for my services?

Q. Yes. Your services as a surgeon.

A. Is done through the—through the billing software, whichpart of the
Chicago Surgical Clinic operations.

Q. And you and Chicago Surgical Clinic collect fees directly from payors,
correct?

A. For the most part.
Q. Patients as well?
A. Patients as well, yes.

Doc. 319-18 at 11, p. 26®Rlaintiffs dispute Defendants’ assertidmuttheydo so only by

identifying otherpayments that Levitin receivedhich are described in thext two paragraphs.



Plaintiffs identify nothing in the record that contradicts Levitin's testimony about the manne
which she billecher patients.

Plaintiffs asserthat NCH compensated Levitin iwo ways Doc. 243 at 22First, they
maintain that Levitirreceived payments from NCH PHOljraited liability corporation created
for NCH'’s physician hospital organizati¢fiPHO”). Ibid.; Doc. 241at{ 5. A physician could
become anember of NCH PHO only if she was NICH’s medical stafind thersgpaately
credentialed byhie PHO. Doc. 283 at § 'he PHOhad an HMO agreement with BlueCross/
BlueShield, and patients who subscribe@ specific insurangaan couldsee physicians at
NCH under the terms of that agreement. Doc. 320-17 at 19, pp. 83e8BNCH doctorswvere
considered “out of network,” arulan participantsreated by such doctovsould bear the
financial costs othose visits.ld. at 19, p. 85.Levitin “applied for years and years and years,
and then finally ... was granted the permission to participate ifiPth®] program.” Doc. 319-
18 at 11, p. 271.

In Levitin’s words, if arrangements are “through the physician health organiztten
you get paid byhe physician health organization. You participate with the insurers through that
health organization.’ld. at 11, p. 270. As evidence of these payments, Plaintiffs provale
Form1099MISCslisting $4,141.58 and $3,948.74 in incomgth CSCidentified as the
recipienton both, NCH as the payor on the former, aNdrthwest Community Health Partnérs
as the payoon the latter Doc. 241 at § 5; Doc. 31Gat6, 8. Viewed in the light most
favorable to Levitin,his is evidence thathederivedsomeincome from her participation in the
PHO, which existed to provide inetwork insurance benefits and was a corporate entity distinct

from NCH,; it is nd evidence that the PHO was a significamtirce of incomer that NCH



compensated her directly otheatton behalf othe PHQ and it does natontradict Levitin’s
own testimony that she generally billgdtients directly.

Second Plaintiffs maintain thalCH compensated Levitin through hgrticipationin
NPG-Cyberknife, goint venturebetween NCH andertain physicianthat leaseanedical
equipment to NCH. Doc. 24t {4; Doc. 320-17 at 20, pp. 88-8%he profits earned by the
venture were distributed onpao ratabasisto the hospital and the physicians, based on
ownership sharedd. at 21, pp. 90-91This, too,describes an additional income stream that
Levitin enjoyed; it does not contradict her testimony about her billing pracfidess, he
undisputedactsarethat Levitin billed her patients or their insurers direcéigd that she also
derived limitedincome from participation in NCH PHO and NPC-Cyberknife.

The parties also disagree about whether NCH provided employment beneétstio. L
Defendants assetthat NCH did not providéevitin with anysuchbenefits including health
insurance, paid vacatigor private office space. Doc. 168720. Defendants further assert that
they did not pay income or Socia&@urity tax; issue any V¥ tax forms; pay for Levitin’s
worker’'s compensation or malpractice insurance; or cover her professigaaization dues or
licensing fees.Ibid.

Levitin disputes Defendantassertios, citing tothe portion of hetocal Rule
56.1(b)(3)(C) statement concerning the payments she receivedNeéhPHO and NPE
Cybeknife. Doc. 240 at § 20 (citing Doc. 241 at 11 4Bt that portion of her Local Rule
56.1(b)(3)(C) statement denot specifically address whether Levitin receivedaheve-
referenced employment benefiggd so her denial of Defendants’ assertion is meritless.
Levitin’s denial is further undermined by her own testimony

Q. You were never issues a\by NCH, were you?

A. Never issued W-2? |—I don’t think so.



Doc. 319-18 at 10, p. 265. And, later:

Q. Did NCH pay your malpractice insurance premiums?

A. No, they did not.

Q. Your professional organization dues?

A. No, they did not.

Q. Your licensing fees?

A. No, they did not.

Q. Your worker’s compensation insurance?

A. No, they did not.

Q. Did they provide you, that is NCH, any employment benefits?

A. Did they provide any employmehenefits? Not to the full extent, other

than being able to use their facilitie&nd they did offer a health insurance
policy that the individual doctors could have participated, and they offered the
malpractice insurance policy that individual doctoosild have participated

in.

Q. You elected not to?

A. | never got a chance. | think those offers were made right before this
whole process started, and | just never was able to take advantage of those
offers.

Q. NCH was not responsible for paying incoomnesocial security taxes on
your behalf?

A. No, they are not.

Doc. 319-18 at 10, pp. 266-6The courtthustreats as admitted the fabiat Levitin reeived
none of the aboveeferened employedenefits.
4, NCH'’s Alleged Control Over Levitin
Levitin’s arrangement with NCH was naxclusive as shecontemporaneously

maintained privileges at other hospitals. Doc. 240 at § 19. Plaintiffs didpatstatemenibid.

10



(citing Doc. 241 at  3), but only to clariftyat the “other facilities whereevitin had privileges
were much smallgr Doc.241at 3. That is not a denial amsldeemed an admission.

Levitin possessed specialized skills and knowledge from years of educatioaiamg) tr
not obtained during her tenure, was responsible for her own continuing education, and had to pay
for her own training and education seminars. Doc. 240 at {1 Pdantiffs disputehese facts
and they support their denial by citisix paragraphs of their Local Rule 56.1(b)@B)(
statement Ibid. (citing Doc. 241 at {f 7-11, 28ive of those paragraphs do remddress
whether Levitinhadspecializedskills and training that she did not get from NCH or whether she
paid for her own continuing education. Doc. 241 at 1§ 77hk othemparagraplassertshat
NCH budgetedunds forcontinuing medical education, but it does not specify titat money
was usedther than “to assist medical staff members to identify physical and mental health
problems.”Id. at § 28. That is not sufficient to undermefendants’ assertion that Levitin
paid her own educational expenses oupadket. Those facts are accordingly admitted.

Defendants assetthat NCH did not require Levitin to keep particular hcamdallowed
her to schedule her own procedures. Doc.&t@# 14, 16. But Plaintiffs point out, with record
supportthat Levitinhad “on call” requirements. Doc. 241 24. Plaintiffsalsonote, again
with record supporthat NCHpolicy allowedan elective surgeryp be bumped if the operating
roomwas needed for an emergency surgergithat NCHimposedcertain temporargcheduling
restrictions on doctors who showed up late for procedures. Doat221. Levitin was further
constrained by the availability of the operating rdoecause her desil surgery times often
werealready booked. Doc. 2&@ 122.

Defendants assert thdCH “did not impose any requirement on Dr. Levitin that she

handle certain types or volumes of cases.” D68at 114. Plaintiffs dispute thigssertion

11



Doc. 240 at 1 14y citing one ofLevitin’s reappointment applications, which heasection

titled “Volume Review” and dox for indicatingwhether an outside reference weded “due

to low/no volume,Doc. 213at 4. Plaintiffs also point to MEC meeting minutes stating that

NCH reviewedvolume reports “in detail” during the reappointment review process, at least for
certain lowvolume physicians, but that the information need not be included in packets reviewed
by the MEC Doc. 320-10 at 4Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, this
evidencesuggests that there was no formal volumeirequent,butthatpatient volume was a

factor consideredh reappointment.

NCH required Levitin tayenerate reports detailing thesees she provided toatients;
those reports wenmgecessary foNCH’s licensure requirements, accreditation, regulatory
oversight, and insurance compensation. Doc. 240 at Plantiffs disputdhe necessity of the
reports citing two paragraphs of her Local Rule 56.1(J){)¢3 statement.lbid. (citing Doc. 241
at 11 2627). But those paragraphs do not undermine or contradidatit rather, they specify
the nature oNCH'’s reportingrequirementsnd the sanctions that could be imposeddiing
to comply. Doc. 241t 2627. Thefactaccordingly isadmitted.

NCH supplied the tools that physicians used during surgery. Doc. 240 at § 17; Doc. 283
at 1119-20. mysicianswere generally limited to the set of tools NCH made available to them,
but could request th&tCH purchasepecialized surgical instrumerds materials Doc. 283 at
1 20; Doc. 319-18 at 13, p. 279. Surgealss could regest specific support staff during
surgeriesbut NCH ultimately assignesurgical assistants based on availability. Doc. 240 at
1 18; Doc. 283 at § 22; Doc. 319-18 at 14, pp. 281-82. Levitin could use her oWCHbN-

surgical assistantiéthey were credentialed and papproved by NCH. Doc. 283 at  23.

12



Defendants assettat“NCH did not supervise, direct, ... or control the care tleatitin
provided to her géents or her surgical decisioraking,”Doc. 168at 11; that Levitin
“exercised independent decisieaking andcher own professional judgmentd. at 12 that
NCH did not pre-approve her surgeriesioect herconsultation or diagnoses of patiends,at
1 13; and thaNCH permitted heto perform*whichever generaurgeries and procedures she
choseas long as they cmrsponded with her privilegesiid. Plaintiffs disputetheseassertions.
Doc. 240 at 7 11-13.

First, Plaintiffssubmit that NCHontrolled Levitinthroughits corporatebylaws and
credentialing process, whi¢imposed restrictions and limitations on the medical staff's
responsibility and authority over their patients.” Doc. a4Y7. The bylawsrequired each
department chief tfm]aintain continuing surveillance of the professional performance of all
individuals having clinical privileges in the department.” Doc. 217-15 at 17; Doc. 283 at  17.
Thebylawsalsoobliged NCH’s Board and officers to “adopt policies and procedures to assure
that the hospital’'s operations and the medical staff's conduct complied withl f@de istate
laws; and providedhatmedical staff membersould have their re-appointment applications
denied or be subject to othdisciplinary actiorfshould they fail to comply or should there be a
pattern of noncompliance.” Doc. 283 at $8e alsdoc. 217-15 at 21The bylawsstate,
however that “[e]ach Medical Staff member shall have primagpomsibility and appropriate
authority for his/her patients subject to such limitations as are containegeBhkaws and in
the Bylaws, Rules, and Regulations of the Medical Staff.” Doc. 217-15 at 14.

Plaintiffs next submit that NCH controlled Lewithrough the Department of Surgery’s
rulesand regulations. Doc. 241 at 1 9. Thades create the SAC, whiclwas“responsible for

monitoring quality of care within the department.” Doc. 283 at § 16; Doc43i3; § 18.

13



Plaintiffs characterizeéherules as specific and mechanieahandating, for instancéat“[a]ny
tissue removed during a surgery had to be sent to NCH’s pathology department.” Datc. 241
1 27. That is wrongthe rulesactually statehat “[a]ll tissue removed at the operat&imall be

sent to the pathology departmewhgnappropriatevheresuch examinations as may be
consideredhecessaryo arrive at a diagnosis will be performed.” Doc. 3ldt 4 8§ 7(emphasis
added).

Plaintiffs also saythat the “Department prepared st lof a surgeon’s permitted
procedures and provided it to them. The privilege to perform procedures on the list would be
extended to an individual surgeon after they completed certain steps,” which involved obtaining
written approval. Doc. 244t 118. That is misleadingtherules actuallystatethat only atypical
procedures require that sort of express, surgpeacific approval: “[The usual and customary
procedures performed by board certified or board eligible specialists ... walabde available to
the individual surgeon. The privilege of performing procednotincluded on the list will be
extendedafter obtaining written approval].” Doc. 3¥/at 3 § 4 (emphasis addedJherules
furtherprovide that surgical procedureshallbe performeanly on consent of the patient or
his/her legal representativexcept in emergencigsand that “[a]ll operations performed shall be
described to the patient or his/her legal representative by the operatingrstrbec. 3174 at
4, 85.

The upshot of this evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, is that
Levitin had primary authoritgnd fairly wide latitude to deteine how best to treat her patients,
but that she also had to follaxertainprocedures and had to operate within outer bounds

prescribedy NCH'’s rules and bylaws

14



B. Motion to Strike

Plaintiffs move to strik@early evey paragraph irevery declaratiocited byDefendants
in their Local Rule 56.()(3) statementDoc. 237. The court resolvesathimotiononly to the
extentit touches upon matters pertinent to the ground on which Defendants’ summary judgment
motion is granted

1. Michael Hartke Declaration

Michael Hartke joined NCH in 2010 as executive vice president of Clinic, Regional
Services, and Information Technology. Doc. 174 at 2. In thatHal&e“oversaw employed
physician entities, including the NCH Medical Group, and the physicighshe entities,
meaning those that act in the capacity of NCH employdeés .t §3. In May 2013, he became
NCH’s chief operating officef* COQ’) and executive vicpresident.Id. at {1.

Plaintiffs arguethat Hartke lacks the personal knowledge required by Federal Rule of
Evidence 602 to speak to Levitin’s business relationship with NCH because he did not become
COO until May 2013 and the events in quespoeceded that dateDoc. 2402 at 111-3. That
objection is meritlessalthoughHartkewas promoted to COO in 2013, he joié@H in 2010.
Plaintiffs also argue that Hartkacks personal knowleddmecause hipre-2013 position did not
expose him t@any relevant matteymeaning that his averments restinadmissible hearsay
Doc. 2402 at 2. However Hartke avershat he wagamiliar with the different typs of
relationships that NCH haalith physicians practicing thereDoc. 174at | 4.

Hartke avers the followingegarding those relationship8ICH had different
arrangementphysiciangpracticing there ld. at 5. NCH couldenter into employment
agreements with physiciangr it couldgrant clinical privileges to independent misems of the

NCH medical staff, with thosedependent memberstaining the right tdold privileges at

15



other hospitalslbid. Physicians who signed employment agreemesusivel from NCHa
salaryand other benefits, and were subject to rules, regulations, and psfie@sc to
employees.ld. atf 6. Levitin was classified as an independent member and did not have an
employment agreement with NCHU. at 18-9. Hartke detas the specifics of Levitin’s
arrangementvith NCH, manyof whicharediscussed abovdd. at §110-24.

Plaintiffs raisedozens ofmeritlessobjections tdHartke’saverments, includinthat (1)
Hartke lacks personal knowledge; (2) diermentdack foundation and are conclusory,
incomplete, speculative, argumentative, and irrele\@nheis not a designated expert witness
and therefore cannot speakihe matterdie addresse$d) thedeclaration fails to cite to
admissibleevidence (5) his averments violate the Best Evidence Rule bedagi$ails to
provide supportinglocumentation(6) the declaration fails to define the terms “paycheck,”
“employee benefits,” “independent member,” “position,” “other employees didbpital,”

“years of education,and“specialized skills and knowledge,” among other$h{g avements
contradictLevitin’s deposition testimonyand (§ heassumes facts not in evidence. Doc. 240-2.
Theseobjections are meritless, and border on frivololis.take one example, thatdeclaration
does not cit®therrecordevidenceand contradits somebody elsetestimory provides no basis
to strike the declaration.

Only two of Plaintiffs’ objectionsvarrantdiscussion.First, Plaintiffs complain that
Hartke improperly assertslegal conclusion idescribing the “employment agreements” that
NCH enters into with somphysicians Doc. 2402 at §5. The court agrees that Hartke may not
averon the legal question of who is an employee and who is an independent corttrattor;
determinations reserved for this courtHowever, Hartke may aver thiiere is an agreement

thatNCH staff referto as an “employment agreement” and that Levitin did not enteamto

16



such agreementSecondPlaintiffs object thatindependent member” is notcéassification of
medicalpersonnel at NCHId. at 1 8. The solebass for that ofectionis that NCH’s lylaws
reference no suctlassification.bid. But theabsence of this term from thglaws is not
evidence that no such classification exists.
2. Allyson JacobsorDeclaration

Allyson Jacobson is the medical director of the NCH Breast Program. Doat 175
From 2007 through 2013, Jacobson was an independent member of NCH’s medical staff with
clinical and surgical privilegedd. at {1 4-5. In August 2014, Jacobson became an “employed
surgeon”atNCH. Id. at 16. At thattime, she becams&ubject to rules and regulations that had
not been imposed on her when slesan independent member; among other thisgecould
no longerpractice at other hospitalsnd the income she generatedlongedo NCH. Ibid.
Moreover, wha Jacobson was an independent member, she directed and controlled her own
surgeres and procedures, could employ her own surgical assistants, and took on as many or as
few cases as she chodd. at §110-11, 20. But in her new positiasan employed surgeon,
Jacobson becanseibject to NCH’s productivity expectations, hadise NCH'’s surgical
assistantgeceiveda salary and benefits package, and was required to obtain specific
certifications 1d. atf17-18, 20-21.

Plaintiffs move to strike &@bson’s declaration on several grounB®c. 2404. Again,
only two warrantdiscussion.First, Plaintifs argue the declaration is irrelevant because Jacobson
became an NCHemployeg” as Jacobson uses the teonly after Levitin ha lost her
privileges. Id. at 1. That may be true, but Jacobson’s averments are still probative of the
different arrangementhatNCH haswith physiciansPlaintiffs’ point to no evidence that those

arrangements materially changed after Levitin lost her privileged, in any event, Jacobsen’s
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averment<learlyare probative of the relationship between NCH and independentbes
dating back to 2007, a time period thaerlags with Levitin's prectice at NCH.

SecondPlaintiffs stateahat the declaration violates tBest Evidence Rule because
Jacobson disaseghe terms of her agreement wRICH. The Best Evidence Rule proesithat
an “original writing, recording, or photograph is required in order to prove its contess (e
Federal Rules of Evidence] orederal statute provides otherwise.” Fed. R. Evid. 1002. But
“[iIf awitness’s testimony is based las first-hand knowledgef an eventis opposed to his
knowledge othedocument, ... then Rule 1002 does not appMW/aterloo Furniture
Components, Ltd. v. Haworth, Ind67 F.3d 641, 648-49 (7th Cir. 2006jere, &cobson’s
averments concermow she was paid and which constralM@H imposed on her practicall
withoutreferencdo anywritten contract. Her knowledge of the matters ibased on her
personal experience, and therefore her declaration does not violate the BesteERidenc

3. Alexandra RoginskyTsesisAffidavit

Alexandra Roginsky'sesids a physiciarwho maintained clinical privilegs at NCH and
other hospitals. Doc. 184 at | Bsesisavers among other thingshat she never received a
paycheck or employee benefits from NCH; that NCH did not direct or control theheare s
provided; and that she scheduled her own surgeltest 15-7. Plaintiffs move to strike
Tsesis’sdedaration forreasons identicalr substantially similato thoseasserted a® Jacobson,
none of which are persuasive. Doc. 240-7.

4. Allan Malmed Declaration

Allan Malmed works as a radiologist at Northwest Radiology Associatesh¥was an

exclusive contract tprovide radiologyserviees to NCH. Doc. 179 at3] Malmed averthat, as

Levitin’s colleague, he observed that bases wereoftennot well preparetiand thatshe

18



sometimes performed procedures without first obtainingptbper radiological imagingld. at
117-9. As noted, he discussed these concerns with Soper and advideddrimmally report the
matter to the MECId. at { 10.Plaintiffs move tostrike Malmed’sdeclaration on various
grounds, includinghathis averments are nobrroboratedy, or are contrary to, otheecord
evidence.Doc. 240-6. For the reasons previously given, that is no reéasdnke a declaration.

In sum, as to the portions of the four declarations cited alBdamtiffs’ motion tostrike
is denied. The motion otherwigedenied as moot, as are the parttesd other motions to
strike.

Discussion

Title VII Claim

Title VII makes itunlawful for an employer “to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any
individual, or otherwis¢o discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual’'s ebwe religion,
sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 200D&)(1). A plaintiff “must prove theexistence of an
employment relationship in ordey maintain a Title VIl actiori Knight v. United Farm Bureau
Mut. Ins. Co, 950 F.2d 377, 380 (7th Cir. 1991). “Independent contractors are not protected by
Title VIL.” Ibid. If NCH was not Levitin’'s employeher Title VII claim fails. See Robinson v.
Sappington351 F.3d 317, 332 n.9tfvCir. 2003)(“It is only the employee’s employer who may
be held liable under Title VII.")Mays v. BNSF Ry. C®74 F. Supp. 2d 1166, 1169 (N.D. Ill.
2013) (Only an employer can be held liable under Title VII”) (internal quotation marks
omitted)

“In determining whether a business relationship is one of employee-employds, ¢

look to the economic realities of the relationship and the degree of control tleyemp
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exercises over the alleged employeKriight, 950 F.2d at 38(nternal quotation marks
omitted). That determinatioturns on five factors:

(1) the extent of the employer’s control and supervision over the worker,
including directions on scheduling and performance of work, (2) the kind of
occupation and nature of skill required, including whether skills are obtained

in the workplace, (3) responsibility for the costs of operation, such as
equipment, supplies, fees, licenses, workplace, and maintenance of operations,
(4) method and form of payment and benefits, and (5) length of job
commitment and/or expectations.

Ost v. W. Suburban Travelers Limousine,,|88.F.3d 435, 438 (7th Cir. 1996)0f [the]
several factors to be considered, the employagtd to control is the most important ....”
Knight, 950 F.2d at 378. “If an employer has the right to control and direct the work of an
individual, not only as to the result to be achieved, but also as to the details by whiekutiat
is achieved, anmeployer/employee relationship is likely to exisOst 88 F.3d at 439.

The Seventh Circuitecognizedn Alexander v. Rush North Shavkedical Center101
F.3d 487 (7th Cir. 1996)tHat a physician who enjoys hospital staff priviledess under
certain factual situations, share an indirect empleyeployee relationship with the hospital
sufficient to invoke Title VII protectiori 1d. at492. Alexandemonetheleskeld thatthe
plaintiff physicians business arrangement witine hospital in thacasedid notqualify as an
employment relationshjpeasoning as follows:

Dr. Alexander did not supply his own equipment or assistants, but he did possess

significant specialized skills; he listed his employer on income tax returns as

Central Anesthesiopists, Ltd., his personal wholly-owned professional

corporation that was responsible for paying his malpractice insurance prgmium

employment benefits, and income and social security taxes; he was responsible

for billing his patients and he collected Fegs directly from them; he never

received any compensation, paid vacation, private office space, or any other paid

benefits from Rush North Shore [the hospital]; he had the authority to exercise his

own independent discretion concerning the care he delivered to his patients based

on his professional judgment as to what was in their best interests; he was not

required to admit his patients to Rush North Shore; and he was free to associate
himself with other hospitals if he wished to do ¢ in Ost it seems clear that
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the manner in which Dr. Alexander rendered services to his patients was lgrimari
within his sole control.

Id. at 493.

The plaintiff physician iPAlexanderarguedhat he was an employee “because he was
required to spend a specified amoohtime per weekon call’ and because, by virtue of the
nature of being an anesthesiologist, most of his operating room patients signes$o him on
a daily basis by the anesthesiology section fiebdd. The Seventh Circuit rejected that
argument, comparing Alexander’s circumstancdataseof the plaintiff inOst Ibid. In Ost the
Seventh Circuit held that the plaintiff was an independent contractor even thoughaihsitie
companywith which he was affiliateddetermined its drivetsstarting times, required them to
call in when they signed off duty, assigned the drivers’ morning passengersddbat the
drivers vehicles be made available during certain times, set the rates the drivers charged, and
determined which drivers wouléceive which customersbid. (citing Ost, 88 F.3d at 438).
Just as those constraintsOistdid not ‘establishan employeiemployee relationship because the
details concerning performance of the work remained essentially withiotk®locof the
driver,” the plaintiff physician’on-call requirements and patient assignmémilexanderdid
not render him an employee of the hospitald.

When Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6) motiamas deniegdthe court rejected theargument
that it was clear from the face of the complaint that Levitin was not an NCH yeeiido Title
VIl purposes. 64 F. Supp. 3d at 1123-Z4e court reasoned that “Levitallege[d] that NCH
exercised far greater control over her work than the defendant hospitatedanAlexandey
including, for example, by controlling which facilities, equipment, instrumemis staff she
could use in surgery; dictating the scope of her duties and responsibilities fotiétspnd

controlling which general surgeries and procedures sh@evastted tgperfornt determining

21



the schedule for her surgeries; and prescribing the form, content, and deadlinetootithents
that she was required to prepare for each patigdt.at1124 (emphasis added). On summary
judgment, however, a plaintiff may not simg@ljege rather, she must adduce evidence to back
up her allegations. And on the summary judgment relterel no reasonable factfinder could
conclude that Levitin was an NCH erapée within the meaning of Title VII.

The record shows thaevitin’s arrangement witNCH was strikingly similar tathe
arrangement ilexander Levitin possesses specialized skdtsquired prior to her joining
NCH; she wa employed by her own medigalactice CSC NCH did not provide her with
employment benefits sucls &acation or health insurance; NCH did not pay her Soe@lir8y
taxes malpractice insurance premiunws professional and licensingek; she billether patients
(or their insuranceompanies) directlyshehad theprimaryauthority todirect her patients’
treatmentalbeit within certain bounds set by the hospital’s rules and bykwisshe maintained
privileges at other hospitals. In some ways, Levitin had even more contrdleyweorkthan
the plaintiff in Alexander—for instance, Levitin couldequest which surgical assistantsvark
with, andwas even able toseherown nonNCH surgical assistamif she sought approval.

A close examination of the five aboveferencedactorsconfirms that Levitin wasot
NCH’s employee.

1. Extent of Employer’'s ControDefendants are correct tHagvitin largelycontrolled
the means and manner of her delivery of patient servigaatin herselftestified that she
ultimately deadledhow to treat her patient¥oc. 188 at 17, p. 273l decide what to do as a
surgeon.”)jd. at 17, p. 276 (“l decided about the actions that | take on my part as a surgeon.”);

id. at 18, p. 277 (“the proper surgical approach is my responsibilitgvitin also maintained
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privileges atother hospitals and remained emplopgdCSCduring heMNCH affiliation.
Plaintiffs retort thalNCH asserteccontrol over_evitin, but their arguments are unpersuasive.

First, Plaintiffspoint to the hospitad’bylaws, which directeddepartment chairs to
“[m]aintain continuing surveillance of the professional performance of allichekls having
clinical privileges in the department.” Doc. 217-15 at 17; Doc. 241 at  17; Doc. 243laisl8.
true thatNCH monitoredthe treatment outcomes of Levitin’s patien®®hatmattersunder
governing precedent, however, is whether the employer controls “not only ... thagdsail
achieved, but also .the details byvhich that result is achievedOst 88 F.3d at 439And as
to those detailghe bylawsmade clear that “[e]ach Medical Staff member shall have primary
responsibility and appropriate authority for his/her patients.” Doc. 217-15 at 14.

SecondPlaintiffs focus on the various ways that NCH formally supervised iamted
Levitin’s practice:NCH requiredwritten approval ifLevitin planneda surgery outside the scope
of herprivileges;the SAC monitoredthe quality of carén Levitin’s departmentand higher-ups
peerreviewedherand began to monitor whicgurgerieshescheduld. Doc. 243 at 17-20; Doc.
3174 at 3 8 4. None of this indicates NCH’s control for purposes of determining whether
Levitin was an NCH employaenderTitle VII.

Medicineis a highly regulated field, and hospitélee NCH arelegally requirel to adopt
measureso ensurehatphysiciars practicing there@ ehically compliant and conduct only
procedures for whichhey ae credentialedAs the Fourth Circuit explained (@ilecek v. Inova
Health System Servigekl5 F.3d 256 (4th Cir. 199%his mandateaversight function provides
the baselin@gainst which a hospital’s control over physicians mushéasured See idat 261-
62. As herethe plaintiffphysicianin Cilecek“was required to abide by hospital rules and

regulations for the treatment of patients, which regulated his work at the hosp#albstantial
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detail.” 1d. at 261. Those rules and regulations, howevelatgd] to the professional standard
for providing health care to patients .... If the hospitals did not insistion details in the
performance of professional services by doctors at their facilitigswbeld be exposing
themselves to recognized professional liabilitid. at 262. The Fourth Circuitasoned that
while the “doctor must have direct controlrttake decisions for providing medical care the
hospital must assert a degree of conflicting control over every degtork—whether an
employee, an independent contractor, or a doctor merely with privileges—targjedts own
professionatesponsibility to patients Id. at 260. Given this backdrop, the Fourth Circuit held
that the hospital's regulationgere “not... a reliable indicatorthatthe physician wathe
hospital’'semployeefor Title VII purposes.d. at 262. Likewise, iWojewski v. Rapid City
Regdonal Hospital, Inc, 450 F.3d 338 (8th Cir. 2006yhich interpreted the Americans with
Disabilities Act’s analogous requiremeasftan employeemployee relationshjghe Eighth

Circuit held that the plaintiff physiciamho worked under the supervision of a monitoring
physicianat the hospitalvas not aremployee because the hospital “could take reasonable steps
to ensure patient safety and avoid professional liability while not attemptiogtwicthe

manner in which Dr. Wojewski performed operatidnkl. at 344.

This reasoning applies with equal forlcere The fact that NCH required Levitin to
obtain permission before performing surgeries outside the scope of her psivitegastance,
was simplya consequenaef the credentialing processlor didthe existence dadudit or review
mechanisms mean that NCH asserted control ovenlananner meaningfub the Title VII
analysis. Theertinent question is whether Levitin had contreér thedetails of her work—
that is, whetheshehad discretion talecidehow best totreat her patientsSeeAlexandey 101

F.3d at 493 (holding that a doctor who “had the authority to exercise his own independent
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discretion concerning the care he delivered to his patients based on his profesdgmehi as

to what was in their best interests” was not an employee because “the mannehifhej

rendered services to his patients was primarily within his sole cont@st)88 F.3d at 438-39

(holding that limousine drivers wenot employees because “the details concerning performance

of the work remained essentially within the control of the drivefhe answer igndisputably

yes. Although NCH'’s bylaws and rules established certain boundiglggatingwhat Levitin

could and could not do, they nevertheless grantegimary responsibilitjor her patients’

care andshe was prapproved to perform procedurgpical of a physician with her credentials
Plaintiffs’ brief argues that “[a]t various times, NCH told [Levit]n.. what tests to

obtain ....” Doc. 243 at 18But there is no citation for this proposition, and an independent

review of thesummary judgment recordveals neevidenceo supporit. The only two points

that tangentially touch onéhsubject are Plaintiffs’ assertions thatd&partmentules required

Levitin to send all tissue samples to pathology, Doc. 241 at&n2/(2)NCH found fault vith

various aspects of heractice during the peer review process, Doc. 211 at Th®O first

assertion is simply not true, dspartment rules stat¢hat “tissue removed at the operation shall

be sent to the pathology department (when appropriate) where such examiastioay be

considered necessary will be performed”—whickhgranteddiscretion to the surgeoroc.

3174 at 4 § 7. As to the second, the only evidence thatgher reviews$ound fault with her

work is her deposition testimony concerning a particular case in wrawersconcluded that

she should have obtained preoperative imaging but did not. Doc. 188 at 7-9, pp. 203-210. But

asto that case, evitin testified thatafterthecommittee’s findingsheordered preoperative

imaging in similar circumstancégcause she believed it tothe correctdiagnostic approach,

notbecause she lacked discretion whether to dddsaat 9 p. 209. Moreover there is nothing
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to indicate that the committee’s actianghat casevent beyond the ordinary oversight that a
hospital must exercise over medical procedures performed atilisds—oversight thathe
Eighth Circuit inWojewskiandthe Fourth Circuit irCilecekheld did not establish control for
Title VII purposes.See Wojewsk#d50 F.3d at 344Cilecek 115 F.3d at 261-62.

Plaintiffs rely heavily onSalamon v. Our Lady of Victory Hospitall4 F.3d 217 (2d Cir.
2008), to support their view that NCH exercised control over Levitin. Doc. 243 at 1#-20.
Salamonthe district court dismissed the plaintiff physician’s Title VIl clagainst a hospital
upon concluding that she was an independent contractor, not an employee, on the grobed that s
“had ultimate control over the Gl diagnoses, services and treatment @aiiethrovided to her
patients.” Id. at 228. The Second Circuit reversed. Like the Fourth and Edytahits, he
Second Circuit recognized thdtdspital policies that merely reflect professional and
governmental regulatory standards may not typically impose the kind of controiaheg an
employment relationship Id. at 229. But the Second Circuit concluded, orfalceual record
before it that the hospital’sontrol over the plaintiff went beyond merely adhering to
professional and regulatory standards; the hospital “did not merely review titg gfuthe
plaintiff’s] patient treatment outcoméut went further, by mandating performance of certain
procedures ... and the timing of others ... , directing which medications she should prescribe
Ibid. That distinguisheSalamorfrom this case, where the record does not support a finding that
Defendats directed Levitin to perform certain procedures or otherwise controllediew s
treated hepatients and wherédNCH constrained Levitin in scheduling her procedures only
insofar as doingo was necessary to ration limitegerating room resources amangltiple
surgeons. And given that this case is on all fours Mgixander Salamon an out-ofeircuit

case, cannanhandate a different outcome.
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Plaintiffs next argue that NCH controlled Levitin through Conway’s bullying and
intimidation Doc. 243 at 18By interfering with her patient relationshighe argument goes,
Conway micromanagg Levitin’s practice. Ibid. Relatedly, Plaintiffs maintain that NCH’s peer
review practices extended beyond “those mandated by professional and govdrregalatory
standardsgiven that she was singled out for additional scrutiny 8ie,assertsvas retaliation
for her complaints about Conway. Doc. 243 at TBese arguments awmnpersuasiveFor Title
VII purposes,htequestion whether Levitin is a4CH employee is logically anterior to the
guestionwhetherNCH discriminated againste—for if she was not an employee, thgtie VII
does not appl and if Title VII does not apply, then NCH’s peer review practices and Conway’s
bullying, even if motivated by disieninatoryanimus, danot violate Title VIl

Finally, as additional evidence that NCH controlled the details of Levitin's work,
Plaintiffs point toheroperating roonscheduling difficulies heron-call requirementghe
assignment of some arall patients to hegnd the paperwork that NCH required her to
complete Butjust as the plaintiff'son-call requirementand patient assignmentsAtexander
andthe plaintiff's schedule requirements@st—both of which provided less flexibility than the
constraints imposed on Levitin—did not rentle plaintiffs in those casesnployeesneither
do scheduling constraintender Levitin an NCH employee herkevitin’s recorkeeping
obligationswere necessary féfCH’s licensure requirements, acdr@tion, regulatory
oversight, and insurance compei®a andthe need to ensure compliance with state and federal
regulations was the driving force behind NCH's rules and procedures. Doc. 240 at  15; Doc.
283 at 1 8.In any event, the fact that NCldquired Levitin to record the services she provided
to patients at NCHloes not constitute control fortle VIl purposes.See Ashkenazi v. S.

Broward Hosp. Dist.607 F. App’x 958, 964 (11th Cir. 2015) (“[T]he record-keeping tasks about

27



which Dr. Ashkenazi complains are administrative tasks required by the [deflethd&im no
way interfered with or controlled the manner or means by which he performed hjs job.”

In sum, even viewing the recordthe light most favorable to PlaintiffSl\CH did not
exercise the degree of contmerLevitin that would point towards her being an NCH
employee, given thdthe manner in which [she] rendered services to [her] patients was
primarily within [her] sole control.”Alexandey 101 F.3d at 493%ee also Ashkenaz607 F.

App’x at 963-65 (holding thahe plaintiffsurgeon was not controlled by the defendant hospital
even thoughhe hospital required him to have proctors present during some surgeries and
prohibited him from performing limb salvage surgeries on elderly pati&tigh v. Deaconess
Hosp, 355 F.3d 496, 500 (6th Cir. 2004) (holding ttegt plaintiff physiciarwas not an

employee of the defendambspital, even though he was required to abide by the applicable
standard of care, becaube hospital’senforcement mechanistook place‘after-thefact,

through the peer review procéssnd “[n]othing in the record suggests that [the hosphal} the
right to interfere with [the plaintiff sjmedical discretion or otherwise control the marared

means of his performance as a surgeddiggs v. Harris Hosp.-Methodist, In@47 F.2d 270,

273 (5th Cir. 1988}“While the hospital supplies the tools, staff and equipment utilized by Diggs
in delivering medical care at the hospital, and whiiepgoses standards upon those permitted to
hold staff privileges, the hospital does not direct the manner or means by whishr&idgrs
medical care); McPherson v. HCAdealthOne, LLC202 F. Supp. 2d 1156, 1167 (D. Colo.
2002)(“[T]he fact that theMedical Center set professional standards for doctors to meet, and
conditioned staff privileges upon compliance with these standards, does not altatuthefst

doctors from that of independent contractors to one of employees.”).
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2. Nature of Work and 8lIs Required Thereis no dispute that Levitin’s work as a
general surgeon required specialized skilig she obtained prior to obtaining privileges at
NCH. Levitin argues, however, that NCH’s continuing medical education requiremade
NCH responsible for developing her professional skills. Doc. 243 aBatwhile NCH may
haveset the bar for staff membexintinuing medical education, Levitin bore the responsibility
of obtaining continuing educatiamedits and had to pay fahemherself. This factorweighs
againstLevitin being an employeeSeeDiggs 847 F.2d at 2730lding that gphysician with
staff privileges was not an employ@epart becausthe hospital did not pay her professional
dues or licensing expenggabbott v. Vill. of Westmon2003 WL 22071492, at *6\.D. Ill.

Sept. 5, 2003) (holding that this factor weighed against finding an employmeiatnsigi

where thedefendant did not pay for theaintiff's continuing education)Clark v. Marietta
Surgical Ctr., Inc. 1999 WL 1043772at*7 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 18, 1999) (holding that an
aneshesiologist was not an employeeadfospital, in part becauser “licensing and
professional fees were. paid through her personal corporation rather than by [the hospital]”).

3. Responsility for Cost of Operation NCH indisputably owns, operates, and
maintains the facilitieand equipment that Levitin used. This factor weighs in favor of finding
an employment relationship.

4. Method of Compensatiorevitin did not receive aalay or employment benefits
from NCH; in her own words, sh#or the most part” directly billed ahcollected from her
patientsthrough CSC. Doc. 319-18 at 11, p. 2€&@vitin did receivdimited income through
her membership itheNCH PHO. But the record shasthat thePHO operated as an-network
insurance plan for certain patiertsdwas a corporate entity separéteam NCH. For thesame

reasonslevitin’s distributions from her Cyberknife investment cannot reasorsditpnsidered
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as compensatioinom NCH. Levitin’s participation in NCH PHO and Cyberknife aesb
understood as separate arrangementgittiatot provide salary or compensation from NCH.

Plaintiffs’ own evidence reinforces that conclusion. Although the record shows that
NCH madeonepaymentto Levitin on the PH@ behalf the amounts ahe PHQrelated
payments—roughly $4,000 pgear—plainly were a small fraction dfierearnings. And even if
the payments did stefrom work performed directly for NCH itselihe fact that NCH'’s
paymentsto Levitin were reporteen a Form 1099 cutmgainstPlaintiffs’ position that shevas
an employee for Title VIl puigses SeeJones v. A.W. Holdings LL.@84 F. App’x 44, 47 (7th
Cir. 2012) (n holding that the plaintiff was not an employee, noting thatyifigrtantly, fhe
plaintiff] received her entire pay as ‘nonemployee compensatigported on IRS Form 1099
Taylor v. ADS, In¢.327 F.3d 579, 581 (7th Cir. 2003) (in finding no employment relationship,
noting that the defendant’s paymetdgshe plaintiff“were reported on a Form 1099 as
independent contractor payments, not on a \-Zhis factor weighk against finding an
employment relationship

5. Length of Job Commitmeritevitin was required to renew her NGiivileges
periodically and she was free {fand did) associate with other hospital$ie noncommittaland
non-exclusive nature of Levitin’s position at NCH weighs against finding an empiay
relationship. SeeAlexandey 101 F.3d at 493 (holding thapaysician was not an gtoyee in
part because “he was free to associate himself with other hospitalsigheziio do so”)Shah
355 F.3d at 500 (holding thapaysician was not an employee in part because he “contracts
freely with other hospitals”)Cilecek 115 F.3d at 262 (holding that, despite the plaintiff's
“enduring relationship” with the defendant hospited,was not an employee in part because he

“at various times.. substantially curtailed his hours at [the hospitdés]lities in order to work
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at other hospitals” and his arrangement “did not restrict his ability to maleabpstments nor
did it prohibit him from working at unrelated facilities”)

In sum, four of the five factors weigh against finding an employmentaeitip here—
including the most important factor, contr@@eeKnight, 950 F.2d at 378. And the only factor
that cuts the other way, NCH’s provision of Levitin’s facilities and equipm&nipt dispositive
standing aloneSee Alexanded 01 F.3d at 493 (holding that a physician was not anoy@
even though he “did not supply his own equipment or assistants”). Consideratiofiva# the
factors, then, showthatLevitin was not an NCHmployee

Havingviewedthe record in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, having compared
Levitin’s circumstances with those of the plaintiff physiciaiexander and having
independently analyzed the five relevant factors, the court concludes as a nattethat
Levitin was not an NCH employe&ee Vakharia v. Swedish Covenant Hos@0 F.3d 799, 805
(7th Cir. 1999) (holding that the plaintfhygcian was not an employee of thefendant
hospital even when hertuation “was not identical with that 8dexanderin all respects,” in
particular that she was prohibited from associating with other hospitiafe)lows that
Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ Title VII claim.

Il. State Law Claims

With summary judgment granted to DefendantshenTitle VII claim, Plaintiffs’
remaining claims all arise under state law. This court has jurisdiction overdlaosmsnot
under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a), given the presence of lllinois citizens on both sides of the case, but
rather unde8 U.S.C. § 1367(ajhe supplemental jurisdiction statut8ection 1367(c)(3),
however provides that “[t]he district courts may decline to exercise supplemental jtiosdic

over a claim under subsection (a) ifthe district court has dismissed all claims over which it
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has original jurisdiction.”28 U.S.C. 8§ 1367(c)(3)'As a general matter, when all federal claims
have been dismissed prior to trial, the federal court should relinquish jurisdictiothever
remaining pendent state claimsfilliams v. Rodrigues09 F.3d 392, 404 (7th Cir. 2008ke
also Dietchweiler by Dietchweiler v. Luga27 F.3d 622, 631 (7th Cir. 2016[W]hen the
federal claims are dismissed before trial, there is a presumption that the cowglingliish
jurisdiction over any remainingfate law claimg). This general rule has three exceptions:
“when the refiling of the state claims is barred by the statute of limitations; whieséantial
judicial resources have already been expended on the state claims; and whearilyis cl
apparent how the state claim is to be decid&flilliams 509 F.3d at 404ee alsiRWJ Mgmt.
Co., Inc. v. BP Prods. N. Am., In672 F.3d 476, 480 (7th Cir. 2012).

None of the excdns apply hereFirst, if this court relinquishes supplemental
jurisdictionover the state law claims, lllinois law would give Plaintdfee year to refiléghose
claims n state courif the limitations period for those claims expired wile case was pending
here SeeSharp v. Electronics Corp. v. Metropolitan Life Ins. G¥.8 F.3d 505, 515 (7th Cir.
2009) (citing 735 ILCS 5/13-217Ravis v. Cook Cnty534 F.3d 650, 654 (7th Cir. 2008)
(same) Timberlake v. Illini Hosp.676 N.E.2d 634, 636-37 (lll. 1997) (samid)leman v. Mazge
2014 IL App (5th) 1302334, 115, 2014 WL 1259111, at *2-3 (lll. App. Mar. 25, 2014) (same
and citing cases)Second, even though discovery has concluddxttantial federal judicial
resources have not yet been committed to the state law cl8mesDavis534 F.3d at 654
(“[T]he district courtdisposed of the federal claims on summary judgment, and so ‘substantial
judicial resources’ have not yet been committed to the gasend, third, becausehe court has
not analyzed the state law ictes and the partiesirguments regarding the immundgctrines

invoked by Defendants, it is not readily apparent hovwstate law claimsvill be resolved.
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(Althoughoneof the immunity doctrinearises from the HCQIA, a federal statutes invoked
solelyas a defenséoc. 64 at 917 5,and thusloesnot support federal jurisdiction ats own.
SeeCrosby v. Cooper B-Line, In¢&Z25 F.3d 795, 800 (7th Cir. 2013) (“Ordinarily, the basis for
federatquestion jurisdiction must be apparent from the face of the plaintiff’splesdided
complaint.”) (citingLouisville & Nashville R.R. v. Mottleg11 U.S. 149 (1908)Hughes v.
United Air Lines, InG.634 F.3d 391, 393, 395 (7th Cir. 2011) (holding that, wherddafendant
invoked the federal Railway Labor Aas a defensagainsta statdaw claim,the litigation had
to be remanded to the state court for lack of federal question jurisdiction).)

Given all this, relinquishing jurisdiction over the state law claims is the appi®pria
course under 8§ 1367(c)(3pee DietchweileB27 F.3cat 631;RWJ Mgmt. C9.672 F.3cat479-
80; Wright v. Associated Ins. Cos. In29 F.3d 1244, 1251-53 (7th Cir. 1994).

Conclusion

Because Levitin was not NCslemployegDefendants’ summary judgmemtotion is
granted as ttheTitle VII claim. And because the court relinquishes jurisdiction ovestiie
law claims,Defendantssummary judgmentnotion s denied as mods to those claims
Plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment, which pertains exclusively tsttite law
claims,is denied as moais well Plaintiffs’ motions to strike are denied in part and deai®d

moot in part, Defendants’ motion to strike is denied as moot, and Defendants’ nrotioniee

are denied as moot. f ? o

September &, 2016

United States District Judge
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